IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Case No. SC00-1998 Lower Case No. 5D98-3178

MARY BARLEY, as Personal Representative of the Estate of GEORGE M. BARLEY, JR., SHEILA MULLINS, BENJAMIN WERMEIL, and NATHANIEL PRYOR REED both individually and on behalf of others similarly situated Petitioners

VS.

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIFTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

JON MILLS Florida Bar No. 148286 TIMOTHY McLENDON Florida Bar No. 0038067

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the trial court erred in dismissing an actual case and controversy, basing its dismissal only on a statement in an advisory opinion that there was "no inconsistency" between the Everglades Forever Act (EFA), Section 373.4592, Florida Statutes, and the Polluter Pays Amendment, Article II, Section 7(b), Florida Constitution, when that case and controversy involves a challenge to the constitutionality of a discretionary agency action under the EFA "as applied" by the South Florida Water Management District to "specific factual scenarios and individual taxpayers," such as the Petitioners-Taxpayers?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners filed this action claiming that the Respondent, the South Florida Water Management District (hereinafter "SFWMD"), has levied unconstitutional *ad valorem* taxes against Petitioners' real property within the Okeechobee Basin. [R-185-89]¹ Petitioners contend that the imposition of these taxes on their properties is in direct contradiction to the provisions of Article II, Section 7(b) of the Florida Constitution (also referred to as "Amendment 5" or the "Polluter Pays Amendment"). [R-185-89] The tax levy is unconstitutional **as applied** to the Petitioners because the levy requires them to pay the costs for abatement of pollution specifically attributable to polluters in the Everglades Agricultural Area ("EAA"), whereas Amendment 5 requires that these costs be borne by the polluters. [R-185-89, 191, 193, 199, 203]

The Florida Everglades are unquestionably one of the world's ecological marvels. [R-194] The late Governor Lawton Chiles properly described the Everglades as an "international treasure." *Advisory Opinion to the Governor – 1996 Amendment 5*, 706 So. 2d 278, 280 (Fla. 1997) (hereinafter the "*1997 Advisory Opinion*"). The Everglades Agricultural Area is a 700,000-acre section of Palm Beach, Hendry and Glades Counties situated immediately south of Lake Okeechobee. [R-195] The EAA was formed, beginning in 1948, when a large portion of the Everglades was

¹ The designation [R-__] refers to the Record on Appeal with the appropriate page number.

drained for farming and for flood control purposes. [R-195] Agriculture in this area consists primarily (82%) of sugar cane grown by corporate farmers, with the remaining acreage yielding assorted vegetables and citrus. [R-195] The Everglades Protection Area ("EPA") is located just south of the EAA and consists of the Loxahatchee National Wildlife Refuge, several Water Conservation Areas and Everglades National Park. [R-195]

Unfortunately, past and continuing pollution has severely damaged this fragile ecosystem. [R-194-98] Nutrient-polluted drainage and runoff from the EAA has flowed into the EPA. [R-196-198]; FLA. STAT. § 373.4592(1)(d). The result of this runoff is that significant portions of the EPA have been destroyed and/or become dangerously imbalanced. [R-195-197] These issues are beyond dispute in this case. As of the early 1990's, there was also no question that the pollution in the Everglades must be abated. [R-197] In fact, the only question remaining was: Who pays?

That question of "who pays?" was initially addressed by the Everglades Forever Act ("EFA"), which was enacted in 1994. [R-198] FLA. STAT. §373.4592. The EFA "was designed to divide the burden of the costs of pollution abatement **on the public** by the 0.1 mil tax and the agricultural users by the privilege tax of \$24.89 per acre." *1997 Advisory Opinion*, 706 So. 2d at 280 (emphasis added). The 0.1 mill *ad valorem* tax allowed by the EFA was assessed on property owners in the Okeechobee

Basin, without regard to whether they actually caused any of the pollution to be abated. *Id*.

In 1996, the citizens of the state of Florida considered a proposed amendment to the Florida Constitution that again addressed the issue of "who pays?" for Everglades pollution. [R-199] Proposed Amendment 5 was known as the "Polluter Pays" amendment and provided:

> Those in the Everglades Agricultural Area who cause water pollution within the Everglades Protection Area or the Everglades Agricultural Area shall be primarily responsible for paying the costs of the abatement of that pollution. For purposes of this subsection, the terms "Everglades Protection Area" and "Everglades Agricultural Area" shall have the meanings as defined in statutes in effect on January 1, 1996.

Amendment 5 was approved by more than two thirds (68.1%) of the Florida voters

and became Article II, Section 7(b) of the Florida Constitution. [R-186]

On March 6, 1997, Governor Chiles requested an advisory opinion from this

Court concerning Amendment 5. The two questions posed by Governor Chiles were

as follows:

1. Is the 1996 Amendment 5 to the Florida Constitution self-executing, and not requiring any legislative action considering the existing Everglades Forever Act? Or is the Legislature required to enact implementing legislation in order to determine how to carry out its intended purposes in defining any rights intended to be determined, enjoyed, or protected?

2. What does the term "primarily responsible" as used in 1996 Amendment 5 to the Florida Constitution, mean? Does it mean responsible for more than half of the costs of abatement or responsible for a substantial part of the costs of abatement, or responsible for the entire costs of the abatement, or does it mean something different not suggested here?

1997 Advisory Opinion, 706 So. 2d at 280.

This Court found that Amendment 5 was not self-executing. *Id.* at 281. The Court went on consider whether the EFA could be construed as the "enabling legislation" for Amendment 5. *Id.* In considering this specific issue, the Court stated that it found "no inconsistency" between the EFA and Amendment 5, in that they were adopted for a "similar purpose" and had a "mutuality of subject matter." *Id.* at 282. That is, both Amendment 5 and the EFA attempt to determine "how and at whose expense pollution of the Everglades should be abated." *Id.* However, unlike the EFA, the Court noted that Amendment 5 was adopted "to require <u>polluters</u> to pay for the abatement of their pollution." *1997 Advisory Opinion*, 706 So. 2d at 282 (emphasis added). To this extent, the passage of Amendment 5 was viewed by this Court as mandating a change in the status quo:

We believe the voters adopted Amendment 5 to effect a change, and construing the Everglades Forever Act as Amendment 5's implementing legislation would effect no change, nullify the Amendment, and frustrate the will of the people. *Id.* (Emphasis added).

In response to the second question from Governor Chiles, the Court construed the phrase "primarily responsible" to mean that "those within the EAA who are determined to be responsible [for pollution] must pay their share of the costs of abating that pollution." *Id.* at 283. In other words, "polluters within the EAA as a group must pay for 100% of the cost to abate the pollution they cause..." *Id.* at 283, n. 12. No factual record was supplied to the Court. No other questions were posed to or considered by the Court. No actual case or controversy was presented. *Id.*

On July 13, 1998, Petitioners filed their Amended Complaint (the operative pleading) in Orange County Circuit Court, claiming that the SFWMD's continued taxation of them as non-polluters under the EFA was unconstitutional following passage of the Polluter Pays Amendment. ² [R-185] Petitioners are all property owners within the Okeehcobee Basin. [R-188-89] Petitioners are not polluters of the Everglades. [R-185] Nonetheless, Petitioners were all required by the SFWMD to pay the maximum 0.1 mill *ad valorem* tax on their properties levied pursuant to the EFA, as well as additional *ad valorem* taxes levied under the SFWMD's general *ad valorem* taxing authority, for pollution abatement costs specifically attributable to EAA polluters, or else risk penalties for failure to pay those taxes. [R-189-91] This maximum tax was levied on Petitioners despite the fact that the SFWMD had the

² The facts alleged in the Amended Complaint are deemed admitted for purposes of this appeal.

discretion under the EFA to impose a lesser (or no) tax. FLA. STAT. § 373.4592 [R-193, 199-200]

On the other hand, Petitioners allege that "polluters" are not being taxed or otherwise made "primarily responsible" for the cost of abating pollution these polluters cause. [R-199-201] Thus, it is alleged that the SFWMD's taxing scheme makes Petitioners and other non-polluters "primarily responsible" for the cost of abating pollution caused by others. [R-201] Petitioners sought, among other things, a declaration from the court that taxes imposed under the EFA against Petitioners, as non-polluters, were unconstitutional. [R-186-88, 191-92, 202-04] The factual question which remains to be determined is whether the SFWMD has unconstitutionally used its taxing authority under the EFA by levying the full 0.1 mill against Petitioners to pay the pollution abatement costs specifically attributable to EAA polluters. [R-186-87, 191, 203]

On October 22, 1998, the trial court entered an order granting the SFWMD's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and dismissed the Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint. [R-434] The trial court based its dismissal on the portion of the *1997 Advisory Opinion* where this Court found "no inconsistency" between the EFA and Amendment 5 for the purpose of determining whether the EFA could constitute the enabling legislation for Amendment 5. [R-438] An appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeals ensued. [R-440]

In a split decision, the Fifth District affirmed the trial court's award of judgment on the pleadings, the majority again relying upon this Court's 1997 Advisory Opinion. Barley v. S. Florida Water Management Dist., 766 So. 2d 433 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). The majority ruled that, despite Amendment 5's edict that the "polluter pay", "until the legislature repeals or amends the [EFA] there is a statutory basis to levy against non-polluting land owners to abate pollution." Id. at 434. A dissent by Judge Harris stated that, even if the proactive taxing of polluters under Amendment 5 was not selfexecuting and required further legislation, the SFWMD indeed acted unconstitutionally by continuing its tax of non-polluters in violation of Amendment 5. Barley, 766 So. 2d at 434-436 (Harris, J., dissenting). This Court has now accepted jurisdiction to determine whether the trial court erred in granting the SFWMD judgment on the pleadings in light of the allegations contained in the Amended Complaint.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A fundamental premise in a system of government created "by the people" is that the government, itself, may not act in violation of the Constitution. Regardless of any action or inaction by the legislature, the Florida Constitution remains the supreme law of this state and the ultimate expression of the will of its people. This Court must protect the ability of the citizens and taxpayers of Florida to challenge the actions of a state agency which violate a clear mandate of the Florida Constitution.

Petitioners seek protection from an unconstitutional tax levy by the South Florida Water Management District. The SFWMD has chosen to exercise the discretionary authority granted by the Everglades Forever Act, in a manner directly contravening the mandate of the Polluter Pays Amendment. This Court has interpreted the meaning of the Polluter Pays Amendment, holding that it requires that "polluters in the EAA [the Everglades Agricultural Area] as a group must pay for 100% of the pollution they cause." *1997 Advisory Opinion to the Governor*, 706 So. 2d at 283 n.12 (Fla. 1997). If, as Petitioners allege, the SFWMD is choosing to assess non-polluters to pay pollution abatement costs caused by EAA-based polluters, the agency is acting unconstitutionally. Petitioners, as taxpayers, have the right to seek redress from unconstitutional taxation.

This is not the 1997 Advisory Opinion simply revisited. That case involved three basic issues: 1) an examination of Article II, Section 7(b)'s "primarily

8

responsible" mandate; 2) an enquiry as to whether the Polluter Pays amendment was self-executing; and 3) consideration as to whether the EFA was itself the implementing legislation for the new constitutional provision. In 1997, this Court found that the "primary responsibility" standard enunciated in the provision imposed 100% liability on EAA polluters for abatement costs of water pollution they cause. Secondly, this Court found that the Polluter Pays amendment was not self-executing, i.e. that legislation was necessary before costs of pollution could actually be assessed against EAA polluters. Finally, while holding that the EFA was facially "consistent" with the Polluter Pays amendment, the Court determined the EFA could not itself be considered the implementing legislation, because to do so would "nullify the Amendment, and frustrate the will of the people." *See 1997 Advisory Opinion*, 706 So. 2d at 281-83.

At no time in 1997 did this Court consider or address factual issues or asapplied constitutional claims. Indeed, this Court has emphasized that advisory opinions are limited to facial constitutionality, and that citizens remain free to bring as-applied challenges. The instant case is just that: a constitutional challenge to the discretionary tax levy by the SFWMD against Petitioners and all non-EAA polluters in the Okeechobee Basin. This Court interpreted Amendment 5 as requiring polluters to pay 100% of the pollution abatement in the Everglades. Now Petitioners claim that the taxes imposed by the SFWMD violate that constitutional standard. The mandates of the Florida Constitution are not optional, but are binding on the State and its agencies, including the SFWMD. The EFA grants discretionary authority to the SFWMD to impose a tax within the Okeechobee Basin, but does not require such a levy. It is not the EFA, but rather the actions of the SFWMD that violate the Constitution. The levy of a tax on non-polluters for abatement of EAAcaused pollution is unconstitutional, inasmuch as it is inconsistent with the clear mandate of Article II, Section 7(b), and Petitioners have properly stated a claim for which a court can and should grant relief. To affirm the superiority of Florida's organic law over all actions of state government, this Court should reverse the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal and remand this case for trial.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case concerns the Fifth DCA's affirmance of the trial court's order granting judgment on the pleadings in favor of the South Florida Water Management District. In a ruling on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, all factual allegations in the Petitioner's amended complaint must be accepted as true. *See Reinhard v. Bliss*, 85 So. 2d 131, 133 (Fla. 1956). The standard to be applied in passing on a judgment on the pleadings is the same as in disposing of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a cause of action. *See Williams v. Howard*, 329 So. 2d 277, 280 (Fla. 1976).

A claim should not be dismissed unless the pleadings "show with certainty that a plaintiff would not be entitled to relief under any state of facts which could be proved in support of the claim." *Midflorida Schools Fed. Credit Union v. Fansler*, 404 So. 2d 1178, 1180 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1981). A determination as to whether a complaint is sufficient to state a cause of action is a question of law; thus, on appeal, the dismissal of a complaint is reviewable by the *de novo* standard of review. *See Gortz v. Lytal, Reiter, Clark, Sharpe, Roca, Fountain & Williams*, 769 So. 2d 484, 486 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) (quoting *Sarkis v. Pafford Oil Co.*, 697 So. 2d 524, 526 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997)).

ARGUMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

The District Court erred in affirming the judgment on the pleadings in favor of the SFWMD because the facts alleged, which must be taken as true, establish a direct violation of the Florida Constitution. It is undisputed that the pollution abatement tax levied against Petitioners, as non-polluters, pursuant to the EFA directly contravenes the express language, purpose and intent of Amendment 5 to the Florida Constitution. Amendment 5 requires polluters to pay 100% of the costs for abating Everglades pollution caused by the EAA. The decision below denies Petitioners' right as taxpayers to challenge the constitutionality of the SFWMD's tax simply because this Court's 1997 Advisory Opinion stated that Amendment 5 is not self-executing and is not inconsistent with the EFA. The District Court has essentially rendered Amendment 5 an absolute nullity. Such a result ignores the legal standard declared by that advisory opinion, and is contrary to the law of Florida and the expressed intent of its citizens.

II. THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION IS THE SUPREME LAW OF THIS STATE AND THE SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT CANNOT CONTRAVENE OR NULLIFY ITS PROVISIONS

"The Florida Constitution is the supreme law of Florida, and, as such, it takes precedence over any contrary provisions of the common law or statutes." *Lane v. Chiles*, 698 So. 2d 260, 263 (Fla. 1997); *see also State v. Greer*, 102 So. 739, 743 (Fla. 1924) ("...the Constitution, by its own superior force and authority, eliminates the statute or the portion thereof that conflicts with organic law, and renders it inoperative *ab initio*, so that the Constitution and not the statute will be applied by the court in determining the litigated rights.")

A. The South Florida Water Management District has Wrongly Construed the EFA and the Constitution Such that the Constitutional Provision is Rendered a Nullity

This Court expressly recognized that a statutory provision cannot operate to nullify a constitutional provision, including a non self-executing provision such as Amendment 5. In construing the validity of challenged statutes, this Court specifically stated that Article II, Section 7, a non self-executing constitutional provision, must be given effect:

> In construing the Constitution every section should be considered so that the Constitution will be given effect as a harmonious whole. *A construction which would leave without effect any part of the Constitution should be rejected.*

Askew v. Game & Fresh Water Commission, 336 So. 2d 556, 560 (Fla. 1976) (Emphasis added); see also Burnsed v. Seaboard Coastline R.R. Co., 290 So. 2d 13, 16 (Fla. 1974); *State* ex rel. *West v. Butler*, 70 Fla. 102, 124-25, 69 So. 771, 776 (Fla. 1915); *cf. Marbury v. Madison*, 5 U.S. [1 Cranch] 137, 177-78 (1803). ("It cannot be presumed that any clause in the Constitution is intended to be without effect; and therefore such construction is inadmissible unless the words require it.")

Recognizing again that no provision of the Constitution should be rendered a nullity, this Court noted that similar constitutional provisions "must be read in pari materia to ensure a consistent and logical meaning *that gives effect to <u>each provision</u>." 1997 Advisory Opinion to the Governor*, 706 So. 2d at 281 (emphasis added). In fact, it was for this very reason that this Court held that the EFA could not be the implementing legislation for Amendment 5 because to so hold would "…nullify the Amendment, and frustrate the will of the people." Id. at 282.

When interpreting and applying a newly adopted constitutional provision, "[t]he fundamental object to be sought in construing a constitutional provision is to ascertain the intent of the framers and the provision must be construed or interpreted in such a manner as to fulfill the intent of the people, never to defeat it." *Gray v. Bryant*, 125 So. 2d 846, 851 (Fla. 1960); *see also State* ex rel. *Dade County v. Dickinson*, 230 So. 2d 130, 135 (Fla. 1969); *City of Tampa v. Tampa Shipbuilding Eng'g Co.*, 136 Fla. 216, 218-19, 186 So. 411, 412 (1939); *State* ex rel. *West v. Butler*, 70 Fla. at 123-25, 69 So. at 777; *cf. Plante v. Smathers*, 372 So. 2d 933, 936 (Fla. 1979) ("The objective to be accomplished and the evils to be remedied by the constitutional provision must

be constantly kept in view, and the provision must be interpreted to accomplish rather than to defeat them.").

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