IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1998

Lower Tribunal No. 5D98-3178

MARY BARLEY, as Personal Representative of the Estate of GEORGE M. BARLEY, JR.; SHEILA MULLINS; BENJAMIN WERMEIL; and NATHANIEL PRYOR REED, both individually and on behalf of other similarly situated,

Petitioners,

vs.

SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT,

Respondent.

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, SOUTH FLORIDA WATER MANAGEMENT DISTRICT

On Discretionary Review from a Decision of the District Court of Appeal Fifth District of Florida

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

### III. PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT AND ACTION WAS PROPERLY DISMISSED BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT LACKED SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.

One of the grounds asserted in SFWMD's motion to dismiss was the trial court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction due to Plaintiffs' failure to comply with the jurisdictional requirements of section 194.171, Florida Statutes (1997). Although the trial court correctly held that section 194.171 applied and dismissed Plaintiffs' complaint, the court - without jurisdiction - allowed Plaintiffs to amend their complaint to "cure" the court's lack of jurisdiction through some form of relation back rule inapplicable to the jurisdictional issue implicated. (R. 160-70) Although the trial court's error was rendered harmless by its ultimate disposition of the case, the disposition below can also be approved by this Court based on the trial court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

## A. Section 194.171 Applies to Plaintiffs' Action.

Section 194.171, Florida Statutes (1997), governs judicial review of "all matters relating to property taxation." § 194.171(1), Fla. Stat. Its provisions not only govern the prerequisites to any action brought to contest a tax assessment, but also limit the subject matter jurisdiction of the circuit court to entertain any such action. § 194.171(2)-(6), Fla. Stat. Plaintiffs' action was expressly brought to contest SFWMD's tax assessments under the EFA and its general taxing authority. <sup>12</sup> Accordingly, section 194.171 is applicable by its plain language.

Without citing any authority, Plaintiffs baldly asserted below that section 194.171 was inapplicable merely because "Plaintiffs are challenging the authority and power of the SFWMD to levy ad valorem taxes in direct contradiction to the Florida Constitution." (R. 40) Plaintiffs cited no authority for their argument because there is none. As this Court has held, the mere fact that a plaintiff raises constitutional challenges to the assessments and to the authorizing statutes does not avoid application of section 194.171. <u>See Markham v. Neptune Hollywood Beach Club</u>, 527 So. 2d 814, 814-16 (Fla. 1988)(approving dismissal for lack of jurisdiction, finding the section 194.171 jurisdictional requirements applied notwithstanding claim that taxes were void and unconstitutional). <u>See also State, Dept. of Revenue v. Stafford</u>, 646 So. 2d 803, 806 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) ("jurisdictional limitations on challenges by a taxpayer to an assessment found in section 194.171 have been held to be constitutional and not to unreasonably restrict a taxpayer's access to courts") (citing <u>Bystrom v. Diaz</u>, 514 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1987), and <u>Rudisill v. City of Tampa</u>, 151 Fla. 284, 9 So. 2d 380 (1942)).<sup>13</sup>

Moreover, the mere fact that Plaintiffs sought declaratory relief under chapter 86, Florida

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Plaintiffs' original complaint expressly sought to invoke the trial court's subject matter jurisdiction under "Fla. Const. Art. V § 20(c)(3), in that this case involves the legality of a tax assessment." (R. 3-4) See Fla. Const. Art. V, § 20(c)(3) ("Circuit courts shall have jurisdiction . . . in all cases involving legality of any tax assessment"). Plaintiffs also sought to invoke the trial court's jurisdiction under section 26.012(2)(e), which similarly provides that circuit courts "shall have exclusive jurisdiction . . . [i]n all cases involving legality of any tax assessment." See § 26.012(2)(e), Fla. Stat. (1997). (R. 3-4) Indeed, the primary relief sought by Plaintiffs was a judgment "[d]eclaring that the 0.1 mill ad valorem tax levied by the SFWMD pursuant to § 373.4592(4)(a)(1994) of the EFA . . . and the additional ad valorem taxes levied under the SFWMD's general ad valorem taxing authority . . . violate the Polluter Pays Amendment." (R. 203) <sup>13</sup> Plaintiffs' reliance on Kuhnlein below was wholly misplaced. Kuhnlein did not address or concern the subject matter jurisdiction of the circuit court, much less the application of section 194.171 to a constitutional challenge to ad valorem taxes. However, in discussing standing, the Court did note that Florida circuit courts have plenary subject matter jurisdiction. Section 215.26, discussed in that case, does <u>not</u> establish limits on the court's jurisdiction. Section 194.171, however, did expressly limit the circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction in this case.

Statutes, does not alter the fact that Plaintiffs' proposed action contested tax assessments made by the SFWMD and was a matter "relating to property taxation." § 194.171(1), Fla. Stat. Indeed, a challenge to the constitutionality of a tax assessment or an authorizing statute, such as in <u>Markham</u> and in the present case, is almost always pursued by a declaratory action. Nevertheless, where the true substance of the action is a challenge to a tax assessment, section 194.171 is applicable regardless of how plaintiff dresses up the claim. <u>See Hall v. Leesburg Regional Medical Center</u>, 651 So. 2d 231, 232-33 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995) (rejecting plaintiff's attempt to avoid section 194.171 by asserting its action concerning exemptions was not an action contesting tax assessments); <u>Stafford</u>, 646 So. 2d at 805-07 (rejecting plaintiff's attempts to circumvent the jurisdictional limitations of section 194.171 by couching its complaint as an action for a refund, holding section 194.171 applied where the relief sought was based on plaintiff's assertion that tax assessments were "unjust, capricious, arbitrary and illegal"). <u>See also Dept. of Revenue v. Ray Construction, etc.</u>, 667 So. 2d 859, 863 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (similar analysis with regard to section 72.011 in declaratory judgment action).

Whether couched in terms of a declaratory judgment action, an action for refund, or any other form of action, Plaintiffs clearly sought to contest the legality of the SFWMD's ad valorem tax assessments by their claim. There is nothing in chapter 194 that limits application of the jurisdictional requirements of section 194.171 to a particular form of action by which a taxpayer seeks to contest the legality of ad valorem taxes. Rather, the plain language of the statute applies broadly to cover any form of action, including Plaintiffs' declaratory judgment action that contests the constitutional validity of SFWMD's tax assessments. See Markham; Hall; Stafford; Ray Construction.

## B. <u>Plaintiffs Did Not State And, At The Time SFWMD's</u> <u>Motion to Dismiss Was Ruled Upon, Were Unable to</u> <u>Amend to State a Cause of Action Within The Limits</u> <u>of The Circuit Court's Subject Matter Jurisdiction.</u>

The subject matter jurisdiction of the circuit court to entertain Plaintiffs' challenge to the "legality of a tax assessment" (R. 3-4) was expressly constrained by section 194.171.

This statute provides in pertinent part:

(2) No action shall be brought to contest a tax assessment after 60 days from the date the assessment being contested is certified for collection under s. 193.122 (2)...

(3) Before an action to contest a tax assessment may be brought, the taxpayer shall pay to the collector not less than the amount of the tax which the taxpayer admits in good faith to be owing. The collector shall issue a receipt for the payment, and the receipt shall be filed with the complaint.

\* \* \* \*

(6) The requirements of subsections (2), (3), and (5) are jurisdictional. No court shall have jurisdiction in such cases until after the requirements of both subsections (2) and (3) have been met.

§ 194.171(2), (3), (6), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added).

This Court has held that subsection (6) of section 194.171 means what it plainly says and must be enforced as a limitation on the circuit court's subject matter jurisdiction. <u>See Markham</u>, 527 So. 2d at 815 (circuit court was without jurisdiction to consider a constitutional challenge to a tax assessment and authorizing statute where the action was not alleged to have been commenced or actually commenced within the 60-day period required by section 194.171(2)). <u>See also Bystrom v. Diaz</u>, 514 So. 2d 1072 (Fla. 1987) (failure to comply with subsection (5) (requiring timely payment of taxes in years after an action is brought) during the pendency of a case divests a court of jurisdiction, requiring dismissal).

In <u>Wilkinson v. Reese</u>, 540 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989), the court similarly applied the plain meaning of subsection (6) and held that "the payment of the taxes and attachment of the receipt [is] a jurisdictional prerequisite," referring to the requirements of section 194.171(3). As explained by the court:

Our supreme court has held that dismissal of complaints that have not complied with subsections (2) and (5) were proper given the "plain meaning" of subsection (6)...

We can ascertain no meaningful distinction between the failure to comply with subsections (2) and (5) and subsection (3), and hold, consistent with <u>Markham</u>, <u>Bystrom</u>, and <u>Clark[v. Cook</u>, 481 So. 2d 929 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985)], that failure to comply with subsection (3) requires dismissal of the . . . complaint.

<u>Id.</u> at 143.

Tt. is well established that a pleading must contain allegations of fact sufficient to show the subject matter jurisdiction of the court. Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.110(b)(1); Gannett v. King, 108 So. 2d 299, 301 (Fla. 2d DCA 1959) ("A pleading which sets forth a claim for relief must contain allegations of fact sufficient to show the jurisdiction of the court."); Jozu Enters., Inc. v. Muller, 400 So. 2d 831 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) (granting relief from judgment where allegations of complaint were insufficient to confer jurisdiction on circuit court to enter a judgment). In this case, in order for the circuit court to have subject matter jurisdiction, Plaintiffs were required to: (1) allege facts in their complaint showing the action was commenced within 60 days from the date the assessments being contested were certified; (2) allege facts in their complaint showing Plaintiffs paid the tax collector not less than the amount of the tax each admitted in good faith to be owing; and (3) attach to or file with the complaint the receipts for such payments. \$ 194.171(2) - (3), (6), Fla. Stat.

Plaintiffs' original complaint patently failed to comply with any of these jurisdictional requirements. Accordingly, the trial court properly dismissed Plaintiffs' complaint due to lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The trial court erred, however, in allowing Plaintiffs to amend their complaint to "cure" this jurisdictional deficiency and in not dismissing the action. <u>See</u> <u>Markham; Wilkinson;</u> § 194.171(2)-(3), (6), Fla. Stat.

Plaintiffs' amended complaint, filed on July 13, 1998, more than eight months after certification of the respective tax rolls (R. 41), could not cure the jurisdictional deficiencies in Plaintiffs' action.

<sup>14</sup> This is because the amendments do not relate back to the commencement date of the action. As held in <u>Wilkinson</u>, given the jurisdictional nature of the subsection 194.171(2)-(3) requirements as established by subsection (6), the relation back doctrine cannot be used to allow amendments to complaints that are not technically in compliance with the statute. 540 So. 2d at 143. Thus, in that case, notwithstanding the trial court's factual findings that plaintiffs had made good faith payment and had filed the receipt with the court before the taxes became delinquent, the appellate court held that the trial court erred in applying the relation back doctrine and the action had to be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction "because the complaint failed initially to comply with subsection (3)." <u>Id.</u>

Although <u>Mikos v. Parker</u>, 571 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), would seem to allow Plaintiffs to amend in order to attach the requisite receipts for payments to their complaint with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Because Plaintiffs' amended complaint was not filed within 60 days from the date the taxes being contested were certified, this Court need not determine whether an amendment within such time should ever be allowed as opposed to a new action being filed within the 60-day jurisdictional period.

amendment relating back to the initial filing,<sup>15</sup> <u>Mikos</u> was wrongly decided and conflicts with the express language of the applicable statute as well as this Court's interpretation and application of the statute.<sup>16</sup> Section 194.171(3) clearly requires that the receipt for payment "<u>shall</u> be filed with the complaint." Just as clearly, section 194.171(6) states that the circuit court has <u>no jurisdiction</u> "<u>until after</u> the requirements of both subsections (2) and (3) have been met." It necessarily follows that, since the requirements of subsection (3) were not met, the circuit court had <u>no jurisdiction</u> in this case and, thus, there was no jurisdiction even to allow an amendment of the pleadings to cure the jurisdictional deficiency in failing to file the requisite receipts.

In addition, this Court has held that the language of subsection (6) is clear and must be given its plain meaning — that is, the requirements of subsections (2), (3) and (5) are jurisdictional. Failure to comply with those technical requirements requires dismissal for lack of jurisdiction. <u>See Markham; Bystrom</u>. There is nothing ambiguous about the mandate of section 194.171(3) that "the receipt shall be filed with the complaint" or subsection (6) which makes this requirement jurisdictional just like the other requirements of subsections (2), (3) and (5). <u>See Wilkinson</u>, 540 So. 2d at 142-43. Where the plain meaning of a statute is clear, courts are without power to engage "rules of construction" to establish a legislative intent contrary to that plain meaning. <u>See State v.</u> <u>Barnes</u>, 595 So. 2d 22, 24 (Fla. 1992) ("this Court has no authority to change the plain meaning of a statute where the legislature has unambiguously expressed its intent"); <u>Holly v. Auld</u>, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984) (same); <u>St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co. v. Hamm</u>, 414 So. 2d 1071, 1073 (Fla.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> <u>Mikos</u> has no bearing on the jurisdictional deficiencies in Plaintiffs' original complaint arising from failure to allege good faith payment of taxes admittedly owed and filing within the 60-day jurisdictional period. Thus, those jurisdictional deficiencies required dismissal of the action without regard to <u>Mikos</u>' holding concerning the requirement of attaching the receipt.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The holding of the Second District in <u>Mikos</u> is also in conflict with the holding of the same court in <u>Wilkinson</u>, discussion or citation of which is markedly absent in <u>Mikos</u>. Thus, <u>Mikos</u> is of questionable precedential import even in the Second District. <u>Wood v. Fraser</u>, 677 So. 2d 15, 18 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) ("absent an en banc opinion expressly receding from a point of law announced in previous opinions of this Court, a trial court should not rely on the expressions of a three-judge panel as a basis to conclude that a previous opinion of another three-judge panel no longer carries the force of law").

1982) ("[e]ven where a court is convinced that the legislature intended something not expressed in the phraseology of the act, it will not deem itself authorized to depart from the plain meaning of the language which is free from ambiguity") (quoting <u>Van Pelt v. Hilliard</u>, 75 Fla. 792, 78 So. 693 (1918)); <u>Henriquez v. Adoption Ctr., Inc.</u>, 641 So. 2d 84, 90 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) (on rehearing) ("It is not the function of appellate courts to correct what they perceive to be inequitable results produced by clear and unambiguous legislative mandates"), <u>rev. denied</u>, 649 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 1994).<sup>17</sup>

Accordingly, pursuant to section 194.171, Plaintiffs' action was required to be dismissed due to the circuit court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The circuit court was without jurisdiction to grant leave to Plaintiffs to amend their complaint to "cure" the jurisdictional deficiencies and Plaintiffs' amended complaint did not relate back to breathe life into the action or infuse subject matter jurisdiction into the circuit court that did not exist. Although the trial court's error in this regard was rendered harmless by virtue of the ultimate disposition of the action, the trial court's lack of subject matter jurisdiction over the action provides an additional ground for this Court to approve the disposition below.

# **CONCLUSION**

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